
 

 

1 

  GEORGIA BOARD OF PHARMACY 
Conference Call 

2 Peachtree Street, NW, 6th Floor 
Atlanta, GA  30303 

April 15, 2020 
9:00 a.m. 

 
The following Board members were present: Staff present: 

Lisa Harris, President     Tanja Battle, Executive Director 

Mike Faulk, Vice-President    Eric Lacefield, Deputy Executive Director 

Carrie Ashbee      Dennis Troughton, Director, GDNA 

Michael Azzolin     Michael Karnbach, Deputy Director, GDNA  

Michael Brinson     Max Changus, Assistant Attorney General   

Hal Henderson      Kimberly Emm, Attorney 

Bill Prather      Brandi Howell, Business Support Analyst I 

Dean Stone              

       Visitors: 

       Stephen Snow, BSL 

       Lauren Pollow, JL Morgan 

       Greg Reybold, GPhA 

       Helen Sloat, Nelson Mullins 

       Mike Chavez, Publix 

       Margie Miller, Augusta University 

       Shauna Markes-Wilson, Walgreens 

       Travis Clark, CAPS Norcross 

       Amanda Roberson, Eldercare 

       Stephanie Kirkland, Eldercare 

       Becca Hallum, GHA 

       Diane Sanders, Kaiser Permanente 

 

Open Session 

 

President Harris established that a quorum was present and called the meeting to order at 9:01 a.m. 

 

Approval of Minutes  

Mr. Stone made a motion to approve the Public and Executive Session minutes from the March 4, 2020 

meeting, and the minutes from the March 13, 2020 Emergency Conference Call, March 18, 2020 

Emergency Conference Call, March 23, 2020 Emergency Conference Call, March 30, 2020 Emergency 

Conference Call and March 31, 2020 Emergency Conference Call.  Mr. Henderson seconded and the Board 

voted unanimously in favor of the motion.  

 

Report of Licenses Issued  

Mr. Prather made a motion to ratify the list of licenses issue.  Mr. Stone seconded and the Board voted 

unanimously in favor of the motion. 

 

Petitions for Rule Waiver or Variance 

The Board discussed rule petitions submitted by Kaiser Permanente Alpharetta Med Office, PHRE007850, 

Kaiser Permanent Athens Pharmacy, PHRE009793, Kaiser Permanente Brookwood Pharmacy, 

PHRE008700, Kaiser Permanente Cascade Med Office Pharm, PHRE007149, Kaiser Permanent Conyers, 



 

 

2 

PHRE009716, Kaiser Permanente Crescent Center, PHRE007007, Kaiser Permanente Cumberland Med 

Offices, PHRE007009, Kaiser Permanente Decatur Pharmacy, PHRE009629, Kaiser Permanente 

Douglasville Pharmacy, PHRE009688, Kaiser Permanente Fayette, PHRE009731, Kaiser Permanente 

Forsyth Pharmacy, PHRE009584, Kaiser Permanente Glenlake Central Pharmacy, PHRE007915, Kaiser 

Permanente Gwinnett Central Pharm #7147, PHRE007776, Kaiser Permanente Henry Pharmacy, 

PHRE008647, Kaiser Permanente Holly Springs Pharmacy, PHRE009659, Kaiser Permanente 

Lawrenceville, PHRE009655, Kaiser Permanente Newnan Pharmacy, PHRE009710, Kaiser Permanente 

Panola Med Off Pharm, PHRE007143, Kaiser Permanente Sandy Springs Pharmacy, PHRE009952, Kaiser 

Permanente Snellville Pharmacy, PHRE009686, Kaiser Permanente Medical Pharm-Corp, PHRE007139, 

Kaiser Permanente Stonecrest Medical Center, PHRE009408, Kaiser Permanente Sugar Hill Buford, 

PHRE009386, Kaiser Permanente/Townpark Pharmacy, PHRE007745, and Kaiser Permanente, 

PHRE009118.  Ms. Emm stated that each facility petitioned for the variance of Rule 480-36-.02(2) and that 

Emergency Rule 480-36-0.36-.08 Remote Order Verification for Retail Pharmacy Permits and the 

Governor’s Executive Order dated March 31, 2020 temporarily replaced Rule 480-36-.02.  Mr. Faulk made 

a motion to deny the rule variance petitions.  Mr. Prather seconded and the Board voted unanimously in 

favor of the motion. 

 

The Board discussed the rule waiver petition submitted by Coliseum Northside Hospital, PHH006333.  Ms. 

Emm stated that the petition is incomplete as the specific rule from which the waiver is requested was not 

indicated on the form.  Additionally, she suggested they review the amendment made to Rule 480-13-.05 

which is currently in effect.  Mr. Stone made a motion to deny the rule waiver petition.  Mr. Prather 

seconded and the Board voted unanimously in favor of the motion. 

 

Correspondence from Jason Elliott 

The Board considered this correspondence from Mr. Elliott asking if a non-U.S. licensed physician can 

receive medications from his company.  Mr. Stone made a motion to direct staff to respond to Mr. Elliott 

by referring him to Rule 480-7-.03(7)(g) which states, “For each person or firm, whether located inside or 

outside the State of Georgia, to which a drug wholesale distributor, located inside the State of Georgia, 

sells to, ships to, delivers to, or otherwise distributes drugs to, such drug wholesale distributor shall 

request and maintain a copy of that person or firm's current license or permit which authorizes them to 

purchase, buy, receive, or otherwise possess drugs.”  Mr. Henderson seconded and the Board voted 

unanimously in favor of the motion. 

 

Correspondence from Angelo Cifaldi 

The Board considered this correspondence from Mr. Cifaldi regarding his client, RXWorld, Inc., an online 

broker of prescription medications that facilitates transactions from business to business.  In his inquiry, 

Mr. Cifaldi asks if his client is required to obtain a license or permit with the state of Georgia for the 

proposed conduct provided in his letter.  Mr. Prather made a motion to direct staff to respond by stating 

that Georgia law and rule include brokers in the definition of a wholesaler.  As such, the Board states that a 

wholesale distributor license would be required based on the information provided.  Ms. Ashbee seconded 

and the Board voted unanimously in favor of the motion. 

 

COVID-19 Testing  

Mr. Greg Reybold was present on the videoconference and spoke to the Board regarding this matter.  Mr. 

Reybold stated that a letter was sent to Commissioner Toomey on 04/10 regarding the U.S. Department of 

Health and Human Services 04/08 guidance authorizing pharmacists to order and administer COVID-10 

tests.  He stated that COVID-19 testing is a covered counter measure.  He stated the federal guidance is 

significant and says pharmacist can conduct any test under emergency use authorization.  He stated there 

are only three tests approved for point of care.  Mr. Reybold stated that he wanted to bring to the Board’s 

attention so it would know it is on the radar.  He stated that he does not know if there is an action item 

assuming the Board agrees that the Emergency Preparedness Act preempts that testing scope of practice.  



 

 

3 

President Harris asked how the sample is obtained.  Mr. Reybold stated that there are a variety of tests.    

He stated one is a nose swab and there is a saliva based abilities test.  President Harris asked if they were 

free and how would the pharmacies be reimbursed for these?  Mr. Reybold responded by stating that is not 

something they have looked at directly.  After further discussion, Mr. Prather stated that he believes the 

Board should do whatever is necessary to show the Board of Pharmacy is fully supportive of pharmacists 

doing these tests under these circumstances.  Mr. Azzolin commented that given the federal law allows this 

and preempts state law during this time, the Board of Pharmacy needs to acknowledge that it supports this.  

Mr. Stone agreed.  Mr. Azzolin asked if it can be noted that the Board of Pharmacy agrees with the federal  

preemptive law associated with this testing.  Mr. Changus responded by stating this issue of preemption 

can take a long time to research.  He stated that he thinks there is something in the federal act that says the 

state law may be preempted, but whether it can totally preempt state licensure laws is another question. He 

stated that he does not see any need for the Board to object as there is no violation of the Pharmacy 

Practice Act.  Mr. Changus stated that it would be an acknowledgement that the Board of Pharmacy agrees 

with the information as provided by the Georgia Pharmacy Association and commends its efforts to assist 

in this crisis.  As such, the Board expressed, without objection, its support of the guidance from the US 

Department of Health and Human Services authorizing pharmacists to order and administer COVID-19 

tests pursuant to the declaration of emergency under the Public Readiness and Emergency Preparedness 

Act.   

 

Georgia Drugs and Narcotics Agency – Dennis Troughton  

Director Troughton reported that GDNA is currently conducting inspections for new pharmacies only.  

Director Troughton stated that agents are practicing social distancing and other safety measures.  He also 

reported that agents are responding to complaints pertaining to impairment and diversion.  Mr. Brinson 

commented that from what he is hearing from colleagues, they have been nothing but complimentary of 

GDNA.  He stated that he appreciates everything GDNA is doing.  Director Troughton stated that GDNA’s 

goal is to be visible in aiding and providing information.  President Harris commented that GDNA has 

been working very hard and that she appreciates all they are doing.    

 

Attorney General’s Report – Max Changus 

Mr. Changus reported that his colleagues, Elizabeth Simpson and Cara Lugo, were participating in the 

videoconference.  He stated that they have been a huge help in addressing the Board’s cases. 

 

Executive Director’s Report – Tanja Battle 

Correspondence from Lisa Durden:  Ms. Battle discussed this correspondence requesting the Board 

review and consider whether or not it needs to make any exceptions to its continuing education 

requirements given the current situation as continuing education will be due at the end of the year.  

President Harris asked the members if they feel adjustments need to be made.  Mr. Brinson responded that 

the Board should give it another month and revisit this matter at its next meeting.  Mr. Azzolin commented 

that there are no mandatory “in person” requirements.  He suggested notifying the Governor of such as 

other boards do have that specific requirement.  Mr. Stone agreed with Mr. Azzolin.  Ms. Battle stated that 

she would be happy to share that information with Ms. Durden.   

 

Continuing Education Report:  Report presented.  Mr. Brinson made a motion to ratify the below 

continuing education program approved since the previous meeting.  Mr. Stone seconded and the Board 

voted unanimously in favor of the motion. 

 
Date of Program Hours Sponsoring Group Program Title CE Code 

4/1/20 – 12/31/20 2 The Medical Center, 

Navicent Health 

Family and Personnel Requirements for 

Sterile Compounding 

2020-0004 

4/1/20 – 12/31/20 4 The Medical Center, 

Navicent Health 

2020 Update: Annual 797 Competency 

Evaluation for Pharmacists and Technicians 

2020-2005 



 

 

4 

Mr. Prather made a motion to deny the course titled, “SelfCare for Healthcare-Your Guide to Physical, 

Mental and Spiritual Health” submitted by LeAnn Thieman.  Ms. Ashbee seconded and the Board voted 

unanimously in favor of the motion. 

 

Correspondence from Dr. Traci Franklin:  Ms. Battle discussed this correspondence requesting the 

Board require a human trafficking course be mandatory continuing education for pharmacists.  The Board 

recommended directing staff to respond by requesting Dr. Franklin provide information on any available 

courses for the Board to consider.   

 

Out of State Patient Specific Shipments Into Georgia:  Ms. Battle stated that the board office has 

received requests concerning out-of-state patients where the patients have been flying out to a location for 

a research drug, but now are unable to do so because of the public health crisis.   She stated that currently, 

shipping directly to patients in Georgia requires a non-resident pharmacy permit.  Ms. Battle stated there 

have been other situations concerning college students being unable to get their medicines shipped here.  

Ms. Battle asked if the Board would be inclined to make accommodations for patients who, for whatever 

reason, needed their meds shipped here by a pharmacy who had no other patients in Georgia. President 

Harris responded by stating that she would love to accommodate them, but she is unsure as to how that 

would work.  Director Troughton commented that the physician can still send an electronic prescription for 

a controlled substance and they can mail in a hard copy of the prescription or phone it in.   He further 

stated that in this case, as long as the physician has the authority to prescribe that drug, he/she can phone it 

into the Georgia pharmacy.  Director Troughton stated that there are some alternatives.  He continued by 

stating that the worst-case scenario would be if GDNA obtains information that meds were shipped directly 

to a patient from an unlicensed non-resident pharmacy, GDNA can investigate determination.  Director 

Troughton stated that he, Ms. Battle and Ms. Emm can communicate that there are options that are 

available to anyone who inquires.   

 

Licensure Exams:  Ms. Battle reported the number of temporary licenses that have been issued to date 

(four temporary pharmacy interns; 29 temporary pharmacy technicians; 31 temporary pharmacists).  She 

stated that all of the temporary pharmacists were licensed in another state.  She explained that very soon 

the board office will start receiving letters of graduation and the current rule states an applicant is eligible 

for a temporary license, minus the exam, if the applicant is a resident or if the applicant has submitted 

evidence of an emergency situation.  Ms. Battle stated that obviously we are in an emergency situation and 

she anticipates getting applications from individuals that have met all requirements except the exam.  She 

stated that the law does not specify which examination.  She stated that testing sites for NAPLEX and 

MPJE are down and individuals will have an impossible time now meeting the exam requirements.  She 

further stated that the Board will have to decide how it would like to proceed with the graduates and how it 

wants to address that as tests cannot be administered.   

 

Mr. Prather commented that he had an opportunity to speak to Judy Gardner, who has been in contact with 

Mercer University, and found out from them that all the schools of pharmacy have the capability to 

conduct online testing.  Mr. Brinson stated that he has been receiving numerous calls from hospital 

pharmacy directors that have interns that are getting through with their rotations.  He stated that he has 

been responding to inquiries by stating that as of right now the Board is not sure what will happen or how 

it will test.  Mr. Prather requested Mr. Lacefield research this matter and report back to the Board on 

alternatives.  Mr. Lacefield responded by stating that he has reached out to all schools.  He stated that 

Mercer, the University of Georgia, and PCOM will confer their students in May.  He further stated that 

there will be 362 candidates between the three schools.  Mr. Lacefield stated that he also reached out to an 

individual that does testing for NABP and all of their U.S. sites are closed.  He commented that the 

University of Georgia has suspended all class activity through the summer and they do not anticipate 

having the students back on campus until August.  Mr. Lacefield stated that the schools are now doing 

online education and online testing and they do have the resources to do that.  He stated that the Board 



 

 

5 

would have to consider using the school’s resources and maybe the school being more involved in the 

exam than has been the case in the past.  Mr. Lacefield stated the alternative would be acquiring software 

packages so the Board can administer the exam.  He stated that the schools can help as they have the means 

to test candidates.  He added that the Errors and Omissions portion can be given in online format; however, 

the calculations would be more difficult to handle with online formatting.  Mr. Lacefield stated that the 

patient profile interviews could be done through online format the same way as how the Board is 

conducting this meeting now or through Zoom.  President Harris asked if the online test would be an open 

book test if the candidate is not at the testing site.  Mr. Lacefield responded by stating that there are some 

schools that have software by which the camera does not allow the candidate to look away from the screen 

or open any tabs on the computer.  He stated that PCOM requires the student to have two devices; a 

computer and a phone or another device with camera, so the proctor is able to watch the student taking the 

exam.  He explained that this would require more manpower than the Board has used in the past.  He stated 

right now internet traffic is at an all-time high, so some may not have a great internet signal where he/she 

may be.  Mr. Azzolin commented that he has taken several MPJE tests in the past and if the tests are 

structured like the MPJE, if he tried to researching a particular item on a test, it would cause him to 

completely mess up the balance of the test.  Mr. Stone commented that he is unsure as to whether or not the 

Board should go through all of these processes to get the students tested or should it allow a temporary 

license and try to work out getting all of those students tested in the fall.  He stated that those 362 students 

will be taking it along with all of those other students in the fall.  He further stated that the pandemic 

should possibly make the Board look at revamping the exam and how it should look at things in the future.  

Mr. Azzolin responded by stating that maybe the Board could do both.  He stated that Mr. Stone’s point is 

very valid.  Mr. Azzolin suggested the Board move forward with technology based modifications that 

allow the Board to do whatever it can to get people licensed or offer them the option to not take the test this 

way, get a temporary license and wait to take the exam at a later date.  Ms. Emm commented that the 

Board needs to be aware that O.C.G.A. § 26-4-43 states that temporary licenses shall expire at the end of 

the month following the third board meeting conducted after the issuance of such license and may not be 

reissued or renewed.   Mr. Azzolin suggested granting the temporary license, which would give the 

individual time to plan for taking the online exam through whatever agency.  President Harris requested 

Mr. Lacefield assist with researching the matter and report back to the Board.  Mr. Lacefield stated that he 

would need to know what the Board wants to include and what, if anything may not translate well to an 

online option.   He stated the Board can discuss specifics about examination content in Executive Session.  

 

Ms. Battle stated that she is on an email distribution list with other Executive Directors and there are states 

that have responded that they have not made any changes to their requirements at this time due to COVID-

19.  She further stated there are states that are extending intern licenses so the intern can continue working.  

Mr. Brinson asked if the Board is saying it will postpone June dates, or keep them open until next month, 

which would be a very short timeframe?  President Harris responded by stating that Mr. Lacefield will 

research as she does not think today would be the day to say yay or nay.  Ms. Battle commented that the 

Board will need to make a decision regarding temporary licenses.  She stated that the Board has discretion 

to approve or deny those that demonstrate emergencies.  She stated that now that we have a global 

emergency going on, it seems that would apply to all the candidates.  Ms. Battle stated that the Board needs 

to decide on whether or not to let staff to issue to those temporary licenses to those who do not have an out-

of-state license.  She further stated that the law does allow the Board to waive, if they have not taken the 

exam.  Ms. Battle stated that President Harris had expressed some concern with those who have not taken 

the NAPLEX or practical.  President Harris commented that she does not think that was the spirit of the 

law when written.  She stated that she is opposed to anyone being issued a temporary license if the 

individual has not taken any tests.  Mr. Azzolin stated that the temporary license is only valid for three 

months.  He continued by stating that it seems logical with a graduate from an accredited college of 

pharmacy in this situation to be granted a temporary license for those three months while the Board figures 

out if it will be able to go back to the traditional method of testing or if not, then determine alternative 

methods so the students are not hindered from their career or potential job opportunities.  He stated that if 



 

 

6 

the individual does not graduate from an accredited college of pharmacy, he does not think they need a 

license, but as long as they meet all other requirements, minus the exam, to him it would seem logical to 

issue the temporary license as it is has a finite active state by law. During that timeframe the Board could 

determine if it could go back to regular testing or if there are other alternatives that are feasible.  Mr. 

Henderson and Mr. Stone agreed.  Ms. Battle asked if a temporary license would be issued regardless if the 

student has taken zero exams, or combination of one or two?  Mr. Azzolin responded that was correct but 

emphasized it would be only in this scenario for that limited amount of time.  Mr. Henderson commented 

by stating that the individual failing a previous exam and is retaking it is a different issue.  He stated that if 

the candidate has never taken an exam, the temporary license should be granted.  After further discussion, 

the Board suggested Mr. Prather contact NABP to see what their plan is and the Board agreed to hold off 

on the temporary licenses until the Board reconvenes in May. 

 

Legal Services – Kimberly Emm 

Pharmacy refusal to fill pet prescription without prescriber’s DEA number: Ms. Emm stated that the 

board office has received two to three emails from veterinarians that have had a non-controlled substance 

rejected by pharmacies because the veterinarian did not have an NPI number.  Ms. Emm stated that she is 

aware that the Board has addressed this matter before and ultimately there is nothing the Board can do.  

She stated that there has to be some sort of work around where the practitioner does not have to give up 

his/her DEA number for something that is not a controlled substance. President Harris stated that she has 

dealt with this several times.  She talked with representative of Walgreens who stated there is a work 

around in their system and apparently a lot of pharmacists are not aware of that.  Mr. Azzolin asked if the 

Board could issue a statement saying the Board of Pharmacy agrees you do not have to have an NPI 

number to dispense a non-control.  He further stated that if the issue has to do with the system being used, 

the Board could reference the individual to the business that is rejecting the prescription to solve the 

problem.  Ms. Emm stated that she will review the Frequently Asked Questions portion of the Board’s 

website to see if a statement can be placed there.  Director Troughton stated the Veterinarian Association 

can help spread the word that they can take it up with his/her individual pharmacist as there is nothing the 

Board can do about a pharmacist choosing to not fill the prescription. 

 

Miscellaneous 

Rule Regarding PPE for Pharmacy Staff:   Mr. Prather stated he recently visited a pharmacy and the 

employees were working as they always have been.  He stated that nobody was wearing masks or gloves.  

Mr. Prather stated that he decided to go to another pharmacy and there were 2-3 individuals who had on 

protective gear.  He stated that he felt like he should bring it up to see to it that pharmacy staff are 

protected.  Mr. Brinson agreed with Mr. Prather.  He stated in his research, everyone is going by the CDC 

guidelines.  He stated that some sites are not considered direct patient care, so they will not be given any 

protective equipment; however, other sites are and Mr. Brinson suggested the Board draft a rule saying  

protective equipment during emergencies should be provided to the pharmacies.  Mr. Prather suggested 

putting information on the Board’s website stating all pharmacies should follow current CDC guidelines. 

Ms. Emm stated that CDC links specific to pharmacies are already posted on the Board’s website.   

 

Mr. Prather made a motion and Mr. Stone seconded, and the Board voted to enter into Executive Session 

in accordance with O.C.G.A. § 43-1-19(h)(2) and § 43-1-2(k) to deliberate and to receive information on 

applications, investigative reports and the Assistant Attorney General’s report. Voting in favor of the 

motion were those present who included Carrie Ashbee, Michael Azzolin, Michael Brinson, Mike Faulk, 

Lisa Harris, Hal Henderson, Bill Prather and Dean Stone. 

 

Executive Session 

 

Georgia Drugs and Narcotics Agency – Dennis Troughton   

Enforcement Update  



 

 

7 

Cognizant’s Report – Mike Faulk 

• GDNA Case # A33287 

• GDNA Case # T33271 

• GDNA Case # A33297 

• GDNA Case # A33235 

• GDNA Case # A33218 

• GDNA Case # T33298 

 

Attorney General’s Report – Max Changus 

Mr. Changus presented the following consent orders for acceptance: 

• G.H. 

• P.P. 

• T.P.W. 

• N.A. 

• C.R. 

• S.C. 

• U. 

• D.G.H. 

• P.D.S. 

• T.G.K. 

• C.F. 

• C.V.S. 

 

Mr. Changus presented the following Cease & Desist order for acceptance: 

• C.A.V.U.M.P. 

 

Mr. Changus discussed administrative processing of board orders. 

 

Mr. Changus discussed the following cases: 

• M.C. 

• M.M.I.S. 

• B.D. 

• K.P.W.A.M.O.P. 

• J.S. 

• H.S. 

 

Executive Director’s Report – Tanja Battle 

• Complaint Follow Up:  L.C. 

• H.M.G. 

 

The Board discussed the upcoming June exam.  

 

Legal Services – Kimberly Emm 

• M.A.L. 

 

Applications 

• L.R.S. 

• H.A.R. 

• D.J.W. 



 

 

8 

• Y.D.M. 

• A.T.D. 

• R.L.Y. 

• L.M.S. 

• A.A. 

• C.M.T. 

• S.N.P. 

• D.T.C. 

• S.A.P.P. 

• S.A.C. 

• B.M.P. 

• C.L.B. 

• J.L.P. 

• J.W.B. 

• M.J.S. 

• R.H.S. 

• K.A.X.R.S. 

• A.C.H.I. 

• W.P.H. 

 

Correspondences/Requests 

• R.P.I. 

• C.P. 

• C.D. 

• A.R.W.P. 

• I.A.T. 

• V.R. 

• W.P.N. 

• W.P.N. 

• W.P.N. 

• C.P. 

• D.P.S. 

• D.P.S. 

• M.V. 

• T.P. 

• I.P.C. 

• I.P.C. 

• T.P. 

• S. 

• C.D. 

• K.C. 

• B.E.T.P. 

• A.E.P. 

• M.C.P. 

• C.D. 

• S.P.I. 

• A.B. 

• C. 



 

 

9 

• C. 

• H.P. 

• H. 

• H. 

• H. 

• M.A.I.I. 

• O.M. 

• R.A.S. 

• M.D.K. 

• T.K.C. 

• J.D.C. 

• B.D.F. 

• J.M.M. 

• B.Z.A. 

• M.P.C. 

• W.P. 

• T.K.P. 

• B.J. 

• S.A.P. 

• E.U.H. 

• E.U.H.W.W. 

• E.U.H.O.S.H. 

• E.R.H.P.S.M. 

• E.U.H.M. 

• S.J.H.A. 

• E.J.C.H. 

• E.D.H. 

• E.H.H. 

• E.L.T.A.C.H. 

• W.A.M.C. 

• W.A.M.C.S. 

• C.H.I. 

• D.H.I. 

• W.K.H. 

• W.N.F.H. 

• W.P.H. 

• W.W.G.M.C. 

• W.H.H.I. 

• P.A.R.M.C.I. 

• P.H.I.P.C. 

• A.U.M.C.I.P. 

• P.H.H.I. 

• P.N.H. 

• P.R.H. 

• C.C.B.H.C.C. 

• G.C.B.H.C.C. 

• L.C.C.S. 

• T.M.C.N.H. 



 

 

10 

• U.H. 

• U.P. 

 

No votes were taken in Executive Session.  President Harris declared the meeting back in Open Session. 

 

Open Session 

 

Mr. Prather made a motion for the Board to take the following actions: 

 

Georgia Drugs and Narcotics Agency – Dennis Troughton   

Enforcement Update 

 

Cognizant’s Report – Mike Faulk 

• GDNA Case # A33287 Accept Private Interim Consent Order 

• GDNA Case # T33271 Accept Voluntary Surrender 

• GDNA Case # A33297 Accept Private Interim Consent Order 

• GDNA Case # A33235 Refer to the Department of Law 

• GDNA Case # A33218 Change pharmacy intern license status to expired per O.C.G.A. § 26- 

    4-47(b) 

• GDNA Case # T33298 Accept Voluntary Surrender 

 

Attorney General’s Report – Max Changus 

Mr. Changus presented the following consent orders for acceptance: 

• Genoa Healthcare, LLC Public Consent Order accepted 

• Peach Pharmacy  Public Consent Order accepted 

• Terri P. Westberry  Public Consent Order accepted 

• N.A.    Private Consent Order accepted 

• Christopher Rankin  Public Consent Order accepted 

• S.C.    Private Consent Order accepted  

• Urostat    Public Consent Order accepted 

• D.G.H.    Private Consent Order to be accepted and signed with express  

    permission upon receipt of the original. 

• P.D.S.    Public Consent Order to be accepted and signed with express  

    permission upon receipt of the original. 

• T.G.K.    Private Consent Order to be accepted and signed with express  

    permission upon receipt of the original. 

• C.F.    Public Consent Order to be accepted and signed with express  

    permission upon receipt of the original. 

• C.V.S.     Public Consent Order to be accepted and signed with express  

    permission upon receipt of the original. 

 

Mr. Changus presented the following Cease & Desist order for acceptance: 

• C.A.V.U.M.P.   Accepted 

 

Mr. Changus discussed administrative processing of board orders.  The Board recommended accepting 

upon receipt, consent orders where the cases have previously been discussed and a disposition determined 

by the Board.   

 

 

 



 

 

11 

Mr. Changus discussed the following cases: 

• M.C.    Update provided 

• M.M.I.S.   Close case with no action 

• B.D.    Close case with no action 

• K.P.W.A.M.O.P.  Close case with no action 

• J.S.    Board authorized Mr. Changus to draft a consent order  

• H.S.    Close case with no action 

 

Executive Director’s Report – Tanja Battle 

• Complaint Follow Up:  L.C.  The Board directed staff to respond by stating the Board revisited the 

issue and is standing by its initial decision.  

 

• Heather M. Gasaway  Temporary Pharmacist   Approved application 

 

The Board discussed the upcoming June exam.  

 

Legal Services – Kimberly Emm 

• M.A.L.    Open records request   Denied request 

 

Applications 

• L.R.S.    Pharmacy Technician   Denied application 

• Haley A. Rodgers  Pharmacy Technician   Approved for registration 

• D.J.W.    Pharmacy Technician   Denied application 

• Yasmine D. Marshall  Pharmacy Technician   Approved for registration 

• Adriana T. Davenport  Pharmacy Technician   Approved for registration 

• Rachelle L. Young  Pharmacy Technician   Approved for registration 

• Leslie M. Solderich  Pharmacy Technician   Approved for registration 

• Alondra Arrequin  Pharmacy Technician   Approved for registration 

• C.M.T.    Pharmacy Technician   Denied application 

• S.N.P.    Pharmacy Technician   Denied renewal 

• Dontae T. Council  Pharmacy Technician   Approved for registration 

• Sable A. Po’iku Plouffe Pharmacy Technician   Approved for registration 

• Simeon A. Cullens  Pharmacist Intern   Approved application 

• Brenda M. Parker  Pharmacist Reinstatement  Approved application 

• C.L.B.    Pharmacist Reciprocity  Approved to sit for the exam 

• J.L.P.    Pharmacist Reciprocity  Table pending receipt of  

         additional information 

• J.W.B.    Pharmacist Reciprocity  Approved to sit for the exam 

• M.J.S.    Pharmacist Reciprocity  Approved to sit for the exam 

• Rebecca H. Stone  Pharmacist Certification of DTM Approved application 

• K-Art X-Ray Supply LLC Wholesaler Pharmacy   Approved application 

• A.C.H.I.   DME Supplier     Denied application 

• W.P.H.    DME Supplier    Denied application 

 

Correspondences/Requests 

• R.P.I.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• C.P.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• C.D.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• A.R.W.P.   Notice of discipline   No action 



 

 

12 

• I.A.T.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• V.R.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• W.P.N.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• W.P.N.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• W.P.N.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• C.P.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• D.P.S.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• D.P.S.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• M.V.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• T.P.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• I.P.C.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• I.P.C.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• T.P.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• S.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• C.D.    Notice of discipline   Table pending receipt of  

         additional information 

• K.C.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• B.E.T.P.   Notice of discipline   No action 

• A.E.P.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• M.C.P.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• C.D.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• S.P.I.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• A.B.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• C.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• C.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• H.P.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• H.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• H.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• H.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• M.A.I.I.   Notice of discipline   No action  

• O.M.    Notice of discipline   No action 

• R.A.S.    Request to lift restriction  Approved request 

• M.D.K.   Request to terminate probation Approved request 

• T.K.C.    Request to terminate probation Approved request 

• J.D.C.    Request to terminate probation Denied request 

• B.D.F.    Appearance request   Approved request 

• J.M.M.    Appearance request   Approved request 

• B.Z.A.    Appearance request   Approved request 

• M.P.C.    Proposal to expand secure  Approved request 

    pharmacy space 

• W.P.    Request for approval of   Approved request 

    Pharmacy Tempbox 

• T.K.P.    Request for application extension Approved request 

• B.J.    Request for 5th attempt at MPJE Approved request 

• S.A.P.    Request for 4th attempt at NAPLEX Approved request 

• E.U.H.    Remote order entry   Approved request 

• E.U.H.W.W.   Remote order entry   Approved request 

• E.U.H.O.S.H.   Remote order entry   Approved request 



 

 

13 

• E.R.H.P.S.M.   Remote order entry   Approved request 

• E.U.H.M.   Remote order entry   Approved request 

• S.J.H.A.   Remote order entry   Approved request 

• E.J.C.H.   Remote order entry   Approved request 

• E.D.H.    Remote order entry   Approved request 

• E.H.H.    Remote order entry   Approved request 

• E.L.T.A.C.H.   Remote order entry   Approved request 

• W.A.M.C.   Remote order entry   Approved request 

• W.A.M.C.S.   Remote order entry   Approved request 

• C.H.I.    Remote order entry   Approved request 

• D.H.I.    Remote order entry   Approved request 

• W.K.H.   Remote order entry   Approved request 

• W.N.F.H.   Remote order entry   Approved request 

• W.P.H.    Remote order entry   Approved request 

• W.W.G.M.C.   Remote order entry   Approved request 

• W.H.H.I.   Remote order entry   Approved request 

• P.A.R.M.C.I.   Remote order entry   Approved request 

• P.H.I.P.C.   Remote order entry   Approved request 

• A.U.M.C.I.P.   Remote order entry   Approved request 

• P.H.H.I.   Remote order entry   Approved request 

• P.N.H.    Remote order entry   Approved request 

• P.R.H.    Remote order entry   Approved request 

• C.C.B.H.C.C.   Remote order entry   Approved request 

• G.C.B.H.C.C.   Remote order entry   Approved request 

• L.C.C.S.   Remote order entry   Approved request 

• T.M.C.N.H.   Remote order entry   Approved request 

• U.H.    Remote order entry   Approved request 

• U.P.    Remote order entry   Approved request 

 

The Board recommended giving staff administrative authority to grant requests for application extensions 

if the applicant is unable to take the examination due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 

Mr. Brinson seconded and the Board voted unanimously in favor of the motion. 

 

There being no further business to discuss, the meeting was adjourned at 1:02 p.m. 

 

The next scheduled meeting of the Georgia Board of Pharmacy will be held via conference call on  

Wednesday, May 6, 2020 at 9:00 a.m., at the Department of Community Health’s office located at 2 

Peachtree Street, N.W., 6th floor, Atlanta, GA 30303. 

 

Minutes recorded by Brandi Howell, Business Support Analyst I 

Minutes edited by Tanja D. Battle, Executive Director 


